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The exhibition “Useful and Beautiful. Silver in Vienna and the Habsburg Empire in the Years 1780-1920” presents its own collection of Viennese silver of the Moravian Gallery in Brno, which comprises of 150 objects, supplemented with several examples from the collection of Vlastivědné muzeum of Olomouc and Museum of Brno. Part of the exposition are also period examples of the other works of silversmiths from other cities in monarchy, especially from Prague and Brno, which with their quality can be compared to those works of Viennese masters, and which indicate at the tight connections between them. There is also a range of Viennese silver from the collection of Ferdinand d′Este, which the Moravian Gallery in Brno acquired in 1964 by a transfer from Konopiště chateau. 


Viennese silver gained importance gradually during the second half of the 18th century, by the presence of many prime silversmiths and goldsmiths, who worked not only for a Habsburck court (e.g. Antonius Mathias Domanek or Ignatz Joseph Würth). Thanks to the influence of Napoleonic wars, the Habsburck monarchy ran out of money to such an extent that the emperor Franz I. (1792–1835) decided to pay the state budget deficit from the fees gained during the over-hallmarking of all the objects from precious metal, which was ordered by the manifesto in August 1806 and which concerned all the cisleithan countries. This arrangement, however, did not improve the financial situation of monarchy, and, therefore, the emperor issued on 1 April 1809 another patent about voluntary loan of gold and silver. Failure of these steps made him, this time, do a more resolute arrangement and by the new patent from the 19 December 1809, he ordered that all the silver objects should be delivered to the coin office for melting, as an exchange for paper currency. This order, which at the beginning referred only to silver in private property of the population, came into force on 17 January 1810 even for churches. Thanks to these radical economic steps of Franz I., only a tiny fraction of a silver production preserved in the first decade of the 19th century (from the period before the year 1810). 


Till the close of the 18t century, silver was processed mainly by belabouring and casting. The 19th century then signified a significant increase in silver production, mainly thanks to the new technology of rolling, which enabled a production of thin silver sheets of various thicknesses. These were more suitable for light factory production. Handmade snarling of the shape of containers and decorum was replaced by pressing and pushing. Gilding of metal objects on fire was gradually pushed aside by galvanic plating technology. Economically growing townspeople also contributed to the rise of cheaper mechanical silver production after 1800. They became, after the aristocracy, an important customer of silver goods. Among the prominent silver producers in Vienna in the first half of the 19th century was, in particular, Jakob Weiss (1794–1847). His products of pressed and pushed thin silver sheet, often in combination with glass, do not miss the original shape arrangement, or the craft quality. Company, which employed 30 up to 60 workers, rightfully gained a title „Landesfabrik” in 1844. 


Among the most prominent Viennese factory producers of silver goods was also Mayerhofer ( Klinkosch Company, which originated by the amalgamation of Stephan Mayerhofer (1772–1852) and Carl Klinkosch (1797–1860) companies in 1830. This producer can be, with exaggeration, called, besides Thonet Company, one of the first creators of an industrial design in Austria and in the whole Habsburck monarchy at all. As well as Thonet´s furniture from bended wood, the group of serial made products of the Mayerhofer ( Klinkosch Company is also characteristic for its simplicity, elaborated functionality and no, or at least minimal decorum. In 1869, he sold his share in the company, which he was leading since the 1840´s together with the son of Carl Klinkosch, Josef Carl (1822–1888), Mayerhofer´s adoptive son Stephan (1818–1889) and the company continued to exist under the title J. C. Klinkosch. The company was, in the second half of the 19th century, one of the greatest producers of table silver, cutlery and silver plastics in the Austrian monarchy. It was purchased in 1918 by Arthur Krupp, and he amalgamated it with a big concern for silver production and nickel silver goods, Berndorfer Metallwarenfabrik.


During the 19th century, even some Prague silversmiths opened their branches in Vienna. For example, in 1853, Abraham Bernhard Bächer, who specialized mainly in production of cheap silver cutlery, opened his branch there. Another producer of silver goods was Alfred Pollak, whose Prague Company and Viennese branch belongs to the important part of the history of Austrian-Hungarian silvery at the turn of the 19th and 20th centuries. 


Second half of the 19th century was provided the Habsburck monarchy with a birth of several art craft museums and applied art schools of different specializations. In 1864, the Austrian Museum for art and industry in Vienna was established (Österreichisches Museum für Kunst und Industrie) and in 1867 the School of Applied Arts (Kunstgewerbeschule). The basis for an education of young designers was the copying of historical and contemporary examples, which was in harmony with the thinking of the second half of the 19th century, where the historicism took over fine art and with him also theorization about style. Viennese silversmiths began to cooperate with artists, mainly with the professors of Kunstgewerbeschule, Stephan Schwarz (1851–1924), Josef von Storck (1830–1902), or with the architects Theofil von Hansen (1813–1891) or Otto Wagner (1841–1918).

After 1850, the cheap mass production looses, mainly thanks to the very low quality, its position. English reform movement, promoting comeback to the quality handmade production, found its advocates even in the Habsburck monarchy. To the young architects and designers in Vienna, who were influenced by reviving thoughts of John Ruskin (1819–1900) and William Morris (1834–1896), were successful in dislocation of the strong position of the surviving historicism in the predominant cheap serial production at the turn of the 19th and 20th centuries. Scottish architect and designer Charles Rennie Mackintosh (1868–1928), who took part in the VIII. exhibition of the Austrian Artists Association Secession in 1900, and a Viennese architect Otto Wagner (1841–1918), with his school of architecture at the Vienna Academy of Fine Arts, they both had a decisive share in the acceptance of geometrical secession.


The vital impulse of the transformation of Viennese goldsmith and silvery was the establishment of Wiener Werkstätte by the architect Josef Hoffmann (1870–1956), painter Koloman Moser (1868–1918) and an industrialist Fritz Waerndorf (1869–1939) in 1903. Besides Josef Hoffmann and Koloman Moser, other outstanding designers of silver objects from Viennese workshop were Carl Otto Czeschka (1878–1966), Dagobert Peche (1887–1923) or Otto Prutscher (1880–1949). Manufacturing programme encompassed cutlery, tableware, vases, beakers, jars, jardinières, flower pedestals, lamps, watch cases and others. One of the characteristic products of Wiener Werkstätte was the objects from quadratic silver or white lacquered sheet metal (mounts, baskets, jardinières). 


Simple in shape, free from ornament and geometrically designed silver objects of Josef Hoffmann and Koloman Moser signified, in the history of Viennese silvery, an important formal radical change, which did not stay without a response in Vienna. Range of greater producers made contact and cooperation with young designers, mostly graduates of Viennese Kunstgewerbeschule and scholars of Josef Hoffmann and Koloman Moser. Architects Hans Bolek (1890–1978), Otto Prutscher or Philipp Häusler designed for Eduard Friedmann, Oskar Dietrich, Alfred Pollak, H. Südfeld ( Co. or Alexander Sturm Companies various kinds of tableware, which were decorated with a stylized geometrical and vegetal decorum. 


After the First World War, silver gradually lost its privileged position among the materials of applied arts. With the use of new metallurgical technologies, it was gradually taken over by a more accessible and easily preserved metals. The exhibition “Useful and Beautiful” in the Moravian Gallery in Brno, is an exceptional display of a passed fame of works, mainly those of Viennese silversmiths from the years 1780–1920.

There is a Czech-English catalogue issued to the exhibition, involving introduction essays about the history of silver in Vienna and the Habsburck monarchy in the years 1780–1920 and a comprehensive catalogue part which is accompanied by an extensive visual material. 
A.G.

ACCOMPANYING PROGRAMME

Thursday 2 June 2005 at 5 p.m. 

Lecture to the exhibition Useful and Beautiful  

Mgr. Anna Grossová

Saturday 4 June 2005 at 4 p.m. 

Saturday´s Siesta on Silver 
Lecture to the exhibition Useful and Beautiful 

Mgr. Anna Grossová

Coffee and desserts, served at the family silver, will make the afternoon pleasant.  Those who will bring the table silver object for an illustration can expect a sweet surprise. 

Sunday 4 June 2005 at 10 p.m. 

Night Tour of the exhibition Useful and Beautiful 

Mgr. Anna Grossová

This tour relates to the concert of National Philharmony Brno at the Moravian square, given under the terms of Brno festival – City Midst Europe.

Focus on…
Wedneday 15 June 2005 at 5 p.m.

Products of Mayerhofer & Klinkosch Company in the collection of MG

Mgr. Anna Grossová

Governor´s Palace, Moravske nam. 1 a 

Sunday 26 June 2005 

Silver Day at the exhibition Useful and Beautiful 

Free entrance for those visitors who decorate themselves with silver jewels and bring silver objects with them or those whose surname is Stříbrný / Stříbrná.
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